**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**  
**IN SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS**  
**APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY**

**The Honorable Clifton Newman**  
**Circuit Court Judge**

---

**CASE NUMBER: 2013-CP-31-0321**  
**Appellant Case Number: 2016-001989**

Laura Toney.....**Appellant,**

Vs.

LaSalle Bank National Association  
As Trustee for the Registered Holders  
Of Structured Asset Securities  
Corporation, Structured Asset Investment  
Loan Trust, Mortgaged Pass-Through  
Certificates, Series 2004-11, Altisource  
Homes, Wayne Capell, Lee County  
Treasure and Lee County Planning and  
Zoning.....

**Respondents.**

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 26 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

**Finkel Law Firm, LLC**  
**P.O. Box 41489**  
**4000 Faber Place**  
**Suite 450**  
**Charleston, SC 29405**

**Stuckey, Fata, & Segars, LLC**  
**P.O. Box 568**  
**Bishopville, SC 29010**

Laura Toney  
P.O. Box 722  
Bishopville, SC  
**29010**

**TABLE OF CONTENTS**

**Table of Authorities.....2**

**Statement of Issue on Appeal.....1**

**Statement of the Case .....8**

**Arguments**

1. **Because the Appellant did not receive a Letter of Acceleration, the foreclosure did not follow the foreclosure laws of South Carolina.**

2. **Because the attorney committed fraud on the court, the Appellant should have been granted a new trial.**

3. **Because the attorney for the Respondents did not enter an Order of Appearance, the case should have been dismissed.**

4. **Because the Appellant did not get an opportunity to present her case, her due process was violated.**

**Conclusion.....22**

## TABLES OF AUTHORITIES

Sundown (South Carolina State Supreme Court

Limehouse v. Husley

**Limehouse v. Hulsey**, 744 SE 2d 566 – 2013 - SC: Supreme Court

**Limehouse v. Hulsey**, 723 SE 2d 211 – 2011 - SC: Court Of Appeals

South Carolina law (Section 1-23-360)

Canon 3(g) of the South Carolina Code of Judicial Conduct

Rule 3.3(d) SCRPC

*In re Arabia*, 283 Kan. 851, 156 P.3d 652 (2007)

*Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Gottschalk*, 729 N.W.2d 812

(Iowa 2007);

*Reciprocal Discipline of Page*, 326 Or. 572, 955 P.2d 239 (1998);

*Matter of Black*, 262 Kan. 825, 941 P.2d 1380 (1997).

28 U.S.C. § 1441(a)

*In State v. Columbia Ry., Gas & Elec.*, 112 S.C. 528, 537, 100 S.E. 355, 357

(1919)

**Rule 81 of the SCRCP**

**12(a), SCRCP**

**RULE 1.7: CONFLICT OF INTEREST**

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Defendants, LaSalle Bank/Altisource Homes were served a Complaint on November 13, 2013. The Respondent, LaSalle Bank filed a Notice of Removal to Federal Court on December 13, 2013, which was on the 30<sup>th</sup> day after receipt of service. The Defendants did not file an answer in State Court. The Defendants' time to answer in Federal Court was 20 days which made his answer untimely in Federal Court (17 Days Late). The Defendants filed a late answer in Federal Court on November 20, 2013. The Defendants filed an Amended Answer on December 20, 2013. Pursuant to Rule 15 of the FRCP, you have 21 days to file an Amended Answer without permission from the Court. The Respondents did not file for an Enlargement of Time to file a late answer. The Respondent, LaSalle Bank, never answered the complaint in State Court until December 1, 2014, after a Default Judgment was filed by the Appellant. The Respondent, LaSalle Bank, filed a Second Amended Answer in State Court on December 1, 2014, which is the first answer filed in State Court which was untimely without requesting an enlargement of time or permission from the Court.

Judge Pieper in ***Lawton Limehouse, Sr., Respondent, v. Paul H. Hulsey and The Hulsey Litigation Group, LLC, Petitioners.*** analyzed the threshold question of when the "30" day time period for the defendants to file an answer began to run and what effect the removal of the case and its subsequent remand had on that time period." Noting that this issue was a matter of first

impression in this state, Judge Pieper ruled that any unexpired portion of the thirty-day time period to answer was tolled during the time the case was removed to federal court. Therefore, Hulsey had until August 5, 2006, to file an Answer to the Complaint. Judge Pieper found it unnecessary to decide whether Hulsey was entitled to five additional days for mailing pursuant to Rule 6(e), SCRCF because Hulsey's Answer was filed twenty-four days outside of the tolled time frame. Accordingly, Judge Pieper found the entry of default was proper. He further ruled that "there was no good reason presented by the thereby who is not in default for failure to appear, and shall make a note in the case file or docket sheet of the mailing." Such mailing shall not be necessary to parties who have already received notice. Such mailing is sufficient notice for all purposes for which notice of the entry of an order or judgment is required by these rules; but any party may in addition serve a notice of entry on any other party in the manner provided in Rule 5 for the service of such papers. Because Hulsey removed the case fourteen days after he was served, Judge Pieper found Hulsey had sixteen days following the remand order to file his Answer. In support of his method of time computation, Judge Pieper relied on *Cotton v. Federal Land Bank of Columbia*, 269 S.E.2d 422 (Ga. 1980), and *Dauenhauer v. defendants* for their failure to file a timely answer other than attorney confusion about the deadline for when an answer was due." Judge Pieper found "no reasonable basis for defense counsel's assumption that the 30 day time to file answer starts completely anew upon remand from the federal court." Thus, Judge Pieper declined to set aside the entry of default. The

majority of the Court of Appeals affirmed Judge Pieper's decision, finding there was no authority in this state to support Hulsey's position that a removing party is entitled to a fresh thirty days to answer a Complaint upon remand. *Limehouse*, 397 S.C. at 68-69, 723 S.E.2d. After reviewing state and federal rules of procedure,<sup>12</sup> the majority declined to adopt a new rule that extended the time for filing beyond the thirty-day limit. *Id.* at 69, 723 S.E.2d. Although there is authority from other jurisdictions to support Hulsey's claim that the time for filing began anew after the case was properly remanded to state court,<sup>13</sup> we agree with the Court of Appeals and decline to adopt such a rule. As previously discussed, once the case was removed to federal court, the state court's jurisdiction was suspended or held in abeyance until the case was properly remanded. When the state court resumed jurisdiction, it had a duty "to Superior Court In and For Sonoma County, 307 P.2d 724 (Cal. Ct. App. 1957), wherein the appellate courts tolled the time for filing during removal. The majority considered Rule 12(a), SCRCP (stating, "A defendant shall serve his answer within 30 days after the service of the complaint upon him"), and Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(c)(2) (providing a defendant twenty-one days to file an Answer after a civil action is removed from a state court). <sup>13</sup> See Ark. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(3) (West 2013) (providing an adverse party with thirty days from receipt of notice that the remand order was filed in state court to file an Answer); Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 430.90 (West 2013) (providing thirty days from the state court's receipt of the order of remand to file an Answer); Iowa Code Ann. § 1.441(7) (West 2013) (providing that the time for pleadings shall begin anew after a remand

order is filed in the state court); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 1A-1, Rule 12(a)(2) (West 2013) (providing thirty days to file an Answer from the date a remand order is filed in the state court); Tex. R. Civ. P. 237a (West 2013) (providing fifteen days to file an answer after notice that a remand order was filed in state court). proceed as though no removal had been attempted." *State v. Columbia Ry., Gas & Elec. Co.*, 112 S.C. 528, 537, 100 S.E. 355, 357 (1919). Thus, the time for filing an Answer was tolled until the state court resumed jurisdiction. Notably, other jurisdictions have reached a similar conclusion. See *Lucky Friday Silver-Lead Mines Co. v. Atlas Mining Co.*, 395 P.2d 477, 480 (Idaho 1964) ("While the cause is before the Federal court, the state court has no jurisdiction or authority to receive any pleadings in the cause nor can it issue any orders concerning the cause. . . . Thus the period of time the cause is before the Federal court, cannot be considered in computing the time within which the appellant had to appear and plead to the cause."); *Peoples Trust & Sav. Bank v. Humphrey*, 451 N.E.2d 1104, 1109 (Ind. Ct. App. 1983) (finding removal of action to federal court tolled ten-day time limit to apply for change of venue and stating that "tolling the time period eliminates uncertainty, preserves the status quo, and is easily applied"); *Jaczyszyn v. Marcal Paper Mills, Inc.*, 27 A.3d 213 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2011) (concluding that discovery period established by state court rules is tolled during the time a motion to remand is pending before the federal court); see also *Gen. Elec. Credit Corp. v. Smith*, 484 So. 2d 75 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1986) (holding that time for filing appeal was tolled during period when case was removed to

federal court); *Hartlein v. Illinois Power Co.*, 601 N.E.2d 720 (Ill. 1992) (finding removal of action to federal court tolled time limit on petition for leave to appeal circuit court's grant of preliminary injunction). Based on the foregoing, we hold that removal of a state court case to federal court tolls the time period for filing responsive pleading.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **LaSalle Bank**

The Defendants were served a Complaint on November 13, 2013. The Defendant, LaSalle Bank filed a Notice of Removal to Federal Court on December 13, 2013, which was on the 30<sup>th</sup> day after receipt of service. The Defendants time to answer in Federal Court was 20 days which made his answer untimely in Federal Court (17 Days Late). The Defendants filed a late answer in Federal Court on November 20, 2013. The Defendants filed an Amended Answer on December 20, 2013. Pursuant to Rule 15 of the FRCP, you have 21 days to file an Amended Answer without permission from the Court. He did not file for an Enlargement of Time to file a late answer. The Defendant never answered the complaint in State Court until December 1, 2014, after a Default Judgment was filed by the Plaintiff. The Defendant filed a Second Amended Answer in State Court on December 1, 2014, which is the first answer filed in State Court which was untimely without requesting an enlargement of time or permission from the Court.

LaSalle Bank filed its first answer in Federal Court December 20, 2013.

An Amended Answer was filed in Federal Court on January 20, 2014.

A Second Amended Answer was filed in State Court on December 1, 2014.

La Salle Bank never filed a first answer in State Court and is attempting to file a Second Amended Answer in State Court. Federal jurisdiction ended after the

case was remanded back to State Court. The Defendant, LaSalle Bank also failed to get the consent of all of the Defendants before removal.

The Honorable Margaret Seymour remanded the case back to State Court on August 4, 2014, stating that the Defendants' case did not have any merit.

Mr. Finkel has stated that the Plaintiff misidentified the Defendant, LaSalle Bank. Mr. Finkel has included "US Bank" as the correct name. After research and verification, it was discovered that US Bank is a "Trustee" and has no authority or liability in this litigation.

Mr. Finkel is also attempting to use Federal documents in State Court. Federal jurisdiction ended after the case was remanded.

The Plaintiff has filed Motions to Strike the Defendants' untimely answers.

#### **Lee County Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning**

The Defendants, Lee County Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning were served on November 13, 2013, and failed to answer within the mandatory time in State Court or Federal Court. The Defendants, Lee County Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning answered in State Court on December 20, 2013, a Motion 12B(6) which was untimely. They did not file an answer in Federal Court until January 6, 2014, which was also untimely.

The Plaintiff filed an answer to Lee County on December 10, 2013, in State Court.

The Defendants, Lee County Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning also filed another Motion 12 stating "Insufficient Service." This motion is null and void because of the answer Motion 12(b)6 that was filed on December 20, 2013. They have waived any rights to file another Motion 12 being that this was not claimed in the Motion 12(b)6 on December 20, 2013.

Mr. Fata's Firm has represented me and my family in numerous legal manners. His firm deeded the original lot (14) to me from my husband, Milton Toney. His firm also wrote our Last Will and Testament and other real estate transactions which constitutes "Conflict of Interest."

The Commission on Lawyer Conduct has reprimanded Mr. Paul Fata for Conflict of Interest and he still continued to represent the Defendants in this case.

An Exparte Hearing was held March 30, 2015, without the Plaintiff present. The Plaintiff was in the hospital for a serious illness and notified the Court. The Court refused to continue the hearing.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN HOLDING AN EXPARTE HEARING WHEN THE PLAINTIFF WAS ADMITTED INTO THE HOSPITAL FOR A SERIOUS ILLNESS AND NOTIFIED THE COURTS?**

The Appellant was admitted into the hospital for a serious illness and informed the Court. (R. Page 1057) The Court continued with the hearing in the absence of the Appellant. (R. Page 84)

Historically, "ex parte communication" has described communication between legal counsel and the court when opposing counsel is not present. Individuals unhappy with a public official's action are now using the term to describe any communication that excludes any interested party, suggesting all such communications are improper.

Whether an "ex parte" communication with a public official is prohibited typically depends on whether the official is engaged in a legislative or quasi-judicial process. South Carolina law (Section 1-23-360) states, members or employees of an agency "assigned to *render a decision or to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in a contested case* shall not communicate, directly or indirectly, in connection with any issue of fact, with any person or party, nor, in connection with any issue of law, with any party or its representative, except upon notice and opportunity for all parties to participate." (Emphasis added)

Likewise, Rule 6(b) of the Model Rules of Parliamentary Proceedings of South Carolina provides: "When conducting a *quasi-judicial* hearing, county council takes on the role of an impartial trier of fact in a dispute involving the legal rights of one or more parties . . . . Further, council members must base their decisions on the evidence presented at the hearing and must not discuss the case beforehand or be influenced by the opinions of others who are not a part of the proceedings." (Emphasis added) Both state law and the model rules address situations where the public official is acting in a quasi-judicial role. What if a public official is performing a legislative function? The South Carolina Supreme Court has not stated directly and conclusively that "ex parte" communications with public officials are permissible in all matters involving legislative functions. However, most courts that have dealt with this issue have permitted it. In 2002, a Tennessee court explained why "ex parte" communications are treated differently depending upon the official's role. "In judicial and administrative proceedings, the litigants are entitled to the cold neutrality of an impartial tribunal. . . . The same cannot be said for the legislative arena. . . . Members of legislative bodies are not acting like judges when they consider a proposed change in an existing zoning ordinance. . . . They listen to their constituents; they test the wind; they try to please as many people as possible consistent with the constitution and good conscience. They are not to be condemned for doing so. That is their job." Prohibiting "ex parte" communications in matters traditionally considered to be within the legislative function, such as rezoning, continues to be raised and tested in the courts.

Some courts have prohibited "ex parte" contacts if a council is considering a site-specific rezoning. They ruled this situation is more quasi-judicial than legislative in nature. Canon 3(g) of the South Carolina Code of Judicial Conduct states that :A judge shall accord to every person who has a legal interest in a proceeding, or that person's lawyer, the right to be heard according to law. A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties concerning a pending or impending proceeding except that: (a) Where circumstances require, ex parte communications for scheduling, administrative purposes or emergencies that do not deal with substantive matters or issues on the merits are authorized; provided: (i) the judge reasonably believes that no party will gain a procedural or tactical advantage as a result of the ex parte communication, and (ii) the judge makes provision promptly to notify all other parties of the substance of the ex parte communication and allows an opportunity to respond. This canon creates the following directives for judges in considering *ex-parte* requests: 1) judges cannot have *ex-parte* communications that deal with substantive issues; 2) judges can have *ex-parte* communications that deal with scheduling or administrative issues or emergencies that are not substantive; 3) judges can only have *ex-parte* communications that deal with scheduling or administrative issues or emergencies that are not substantive if the judge a) reasonably believes that no party will gain a procedural or tactical advantage as a result of the *ex-parte* communication; b) makes provision promptly to notify all other

parties of the substance of the *ex-parte* communication and; c) allows an opportunity to respond. Perhaps the most important rule regarding *ex-parte* requests is the ethical obligation created by Rule 3.3(d) SCRPC: “In an *ex parte* proceeding, a lawyer shall inform the tribunal of all material facts known to the lawyer that will enable the tribunal to make an informed decision, *whether or not the facts are adverse*” (emphasis added). This rule creates an ethical obligation for counsel seeking *ex-parte* relief to provide the court all material facts known to the lawyer, not just the material facts that support the client’s request. While no reported South Carolina case involves an attorney’s failure to comply with this rule, attorneys in other states have been subjected to discipline based on violation of this rule. See e.g., *In re Arabia*, 283 Kan. 851, 156 P.3d 652 (2007); *Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Gottschalk*, 729 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 2007); *Reciprocal Discipline of Page*, 326 Or. 572, 955 P.2d 239 (1998); *Matter of Black*, 262 Kan. 825, 941 P.2d 1380 (1997).

The Defendants were served on November 18, 2013, but failed to consent to the removal filed by Mr. Finkel on December 13, 2013.. Mr. Finkel has committed fraud on the court in his Notice of Removal. Deadlines for removal cannot be extended by agreement of the parties or even by order of court. The deadlines are jurisdictional. That is, if they are not satisfied, the court does not have jurisdiction to hear the case. The Defendants’ Notice of Removal was defective because it did not include the consent of all of the codefendants in a timely manner.

In State v. Columbia Ry., Gas & Elec., 112 S.C. 528, 537, 100 S.E. 355, 357 (1919) (stating that upon remand it is the duty of the state court to proceed as if no removal had been attempted). Public officials can be sued for a variety of reasons, ranging from land use decisions to denying or revoking a license. Increasingly, plaintiffs are alleging "ex parte communications" to support their lawsuits. They are claiming these communications show a lack of impartiality and fairness in the official's decision making process.

**II. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ERR IN RULING THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT HAVE TO FILE IN STATE COURT AFTER REMAND EVEN IF THE DEFENDANT DID NOT FILE A TIMELY ANSWER IN STATE OR FEDERAL COURT?**

The Defendants were served a Complaint on November 13, 2013. (R. Page 24) The Defendant, LaSalle Bank filed a Notice of Removal to Federal Court on December 13, 2013, which was on the 30<sup>th</sup> day after receipt of service. (R. Page 19). The Defendants time to answer in Federal Court was 20 days which made his answer untimely in Federal Court (17 Days Late). The Defendants filed a late answer in Federal Court on November 20, 2013. The Defendants filed an Amended Answer on December 20, 2013. (R. Page 45) Pursuant to Rule 15 of the FRCP, you have 21 days to file an Amended Answer without permission from the Court. He did not file for an Enlargement of Time to file a late answer.

The Defendant never answered the complaint in State Court until December 1, 2014, after a Default Judgment was filed by the Plaintiff. (R. Page 511) The Defendant filed a Second Amended Answer in State Court on December 1, 2014, which is the first answer filed in State Court which was untimely without requesting an enlargement of time or permission from the Court. (R. page 57).

Mr. Wayne Capell, Lee County Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning were served on November 13, 2013, but failed to answer in a timely manner.(R.427).

**Rule 81 of the SCRCP states:**

**(c) REMOVED ACTIONS.**

(1) *Applicability.* These rules apply to a civil action after it is removed from a state court.

(2) *Further Pleading.* After removal, repleading is unnecessary unless the court orders it. A defendant who did not answer before removal must answer or present other defenses or objections under these rules within the longest of these periods:

(A) 21 days after receiving—through service or otherwise—a copy of the initial pleading stating the claim for relief;

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