THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001989

---

RECEIVED  
JAN 16 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Laura Toney,

Appellant,

v.

LaSalle Bank National Association as Trustee for the  
Registered Holder of Structured Asset Securities  
Corporation, Structured Asset Investment Loan Trust,  
Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2004-11,  
A/K/A Altisource Homes, Wayne Capell, Lee County  
Treasurer and Lee County Planning and Zoning,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION**

---

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial judge did not err in proceeding with a duly noticed hearing in the absence of Plaintiff, and properly denied Plaintiff's request for continuance, where Plaintiff was given notice and opportunity to be heard both at the hearing and after the hearing, and her previous history of vague and unsupported excuses of illness was insufficient to warrant re-scheduling the hearing.***

Contrary to Toney's argument, the trial judge did not conduct an improper *ex-parte* hearing. Toney was given proper notice and opportunity to be heard at two separate hearings. At the November hearing, she did not return to court after a short break despite the judge's clear instruction for all to do so; instead she failed to appear,

presenting what was later confirmed by the court to be a spurious excuse of an alleged medical condition. At the subsequent March hearing, once again properly noticed, which provided Toney a second opportunity to be heard, she once again failed to appear. She filed no motion and offered no valid justification for her absence, which the court found on the record to be the latest in a series of abusive contrivances by Toney in an effort to cause delay and avoid adjudication. Based on this pattern of misconduct by Toney, the court was justified in refusing to continue the March hearing and conducting it in her absence. Thus, this Court should reject Toney's arguments, and affirm.

“Generally, one who has notice and fails to appear cannot complain of an *ex parte* proceeding.” *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 623, 576 S.E.2d 156, 162 (2003) (citations omitted). When a party has notice of a hearing and intentionally fails to appear at the hearing, the absent party waives any objection to potential *ex parte* communication. *Id.* Thus, the prohibition against *ex parte* communications does not prevent a hearing from going forward when a party has notice of a hearing and fails to appear to avoid the consequences of the hearing.

Here, contrary to Toney's argument, the trial court afforded her sufficient due process, and in fact, one might argue more due process than she was entitled under the circumstances. Although she appeared and participated at the November Hearing, she failed to return after the court took a brief recess for lunch. Toney then appeared the next day in court claiming health issues, and advising the court that she had other motions that she wanted the court to consider. The Court then rescheduled the hearing to March 30, 2016, but Toney claimed that she would be unavailable, but without providing the court with any explanation. The judge advised the parties in attendance at the March hearing

that Toney had sent email communications that day advising that she fell ill, requiring her hospitalization<sup>71</sup>, and that she requested a continuance.

The trial court then ruled that he would deny Toney's request for continuance based on her alleged illness, and in support of his decision, advised the parties in attendance that he had contacted the clinic employee who had previously provided Toney with a note regarding her alleged hospitalization when she failed to re-appear at the November hearing. The clinic employee testified that she would not have written Toney a doctor's note indicating that Toney was ill when she had not determined that she was, in fact, ill, had she known it was going to be used to get out of a court appearance. Thus, the trial court properly denied Toney's motion for continuance based on a pattern of abuse by Ms. Toney which pre-dated the November hearing.

In addition, the court advised that in reaching his decision to move forward with the hearing on the pending motions, he was relying on a new pilot program pursuant to S.C. Supreme Court Administrative Order No. 2015-09-10-01, that allows judges to rule on motions without a hearing, to streamline the dockets and move cases. Finally, the trial court gave Toney an additionally fifteen days to submit any additional written materials she wanted in support of her position, which she did. Thus, Toney was given equal opportunity to be heard because the trial court received and considered all filings made by Toney.

By giving her an additional fifteen days to submit written briefings, the trial court gave Toney more than ample opportunity to be heard than she was entitled. Thus, she suffered no prejudice, and without prejudice, the trial court's ruling cannot be overturned even in the case of *ex parte* communications. *Bakala*, 352 S.C. at 623, 576 S.E.2d at 162

---

<sup>71</sup> R. p. 1001.

("[A]lthough ex parte contacts are strongly disfavored, prejudice must be shown to obtain a reversal on this ground." (citing *Ellis v. Procter and Gamble Distrib. Co.*, 315 S.C. 283, 433 S.E.2d 856 (1993); *Burgess v. Stern*, 311 S.C. 326, 428 S.E.2d 880 (1993))). Because Toney was given sufficient notice and opportunity to be heard, exhibited a pattern of suspect excuses to delay the case, intentionally failed to return to a hearing after recess, skipped the rescheduled hearing entirely with no valid justification, and has failed to show prejudice, this Court should reject her argument regarding *ex parte* communications, and affirm the Order granting LaSalle Defendants' motion to dismiss.

***II. The trial judge correctly denied Plaintiff's motion for default against the LaSalle Defendants and ruled that the LaSalle Defendants did not have to re-file their Motion to Dismiss in state court after remand when it was timely filed in federal court pursuant to the rules of procedure and the federal court's order.***

Although Toney frames her second issue as whether the trial court erred in ruling that LaSalle did not have to file a responsive pleading in state court after the remand from federal court, her argument makes it clear that she believes that LaSalle should have been defaulted for failure to timely file an Answer in the federal court after removal. Toney's argument that LaSalle did not timely defend in federal court is belied by the facts of this case that show that the LaSalle Defendants timely filed a Motion to Dismiss in federal court. Moreover, LaSalle was not required to refile its motion to dismiss in state court after remand, a fact that is supported by both the case law as well as the federal court's ruling that all federal court filings would travel back to state court after remand. Thus, this Court should reject Toney's arguments, and affirm the dismissal of the case.

Much of Toney's argument section is not argument at all, but rather just quoting the case of *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 397 S.C. 49, 723 S.E.2d 211 (Ct. App. 2011), *rev'd*, 404 S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013). In *Limehouse*, a case was removed to federal court and

then subsequently remanded. The defendants, thinking the thirty-day period to answer began anew after remand, failed to answer, and a default was entered against them. *Id.*, 397 S.C. at 59, 723 S.E.2d at 216. The Court of Appeals of South Carolina declined to adopt a rule that a defendant gets a fresh thirty days after remand to answer. *Id.*, at 397 S.C. at 68, 723 S.E.2d at 221. The Court of Appeals found that default was proper because no matter whether it adopted a rule that the removal tolled the time remaining to answer under South Carolina law or whether the removing party subjected itself to the shorter deadline of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 81(c)(2), the defendant failed to answer until even the more liberal deadline had expired. *Id.*, at 397 S.C. at 69; 723 S.E.2d at 222.<sup>72</sup>

However, *Limehouse* is distinguishable from this case because the defendant in *Limehouse* failed to file **any** defensive pleading or motion in the federal court before remand. Here, the LaSalle Defendants timely filed a motion to dismiss in Federal court. Thus, this Court should reject Toney's arguments.

Rule 12(a), SCRCF, states in relevant part:

A defendant shall serve his answer within 30 days after the service of the complaint upon him . . . . The service of a motion permitted under this rule alters these periods of time as follows, unless a different time is fixed by order of the Court: (1) if the Court denies the motion or postpones its disposition until the trial on the merits, the responsive pleading shall be served within 15 days after notice of the Court's action[.]

The defenses of (4) insufficiency of process, (5) insufficiency of service of process, (6) failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, are three of the

---

<sup>72</sup>The Supreme Court of South Carolina reversed, but on the limited issue that the state court did not reacquire jurisdiction until after the federal district court mailed the certified copy of the remand order, rendering the trial court proceedings void. The Supreme Court agreed that the time to file a defensive pleading did not start anew after remand.

defenses that may be raised by motion before a responsive pleading, under SCRPC 12(b), and were raised in this case. The federal rules provide that:

After removal, repleading is unnecessary unless the court orders it. A defendant who did not answer before removal must answer or present other defenses or objections under these rules within *the longest of these periods*:

(A) 21 days after receiving--through service or otherwise--a copy of the initial pleading stating the claim for relief;

(B) 21 days after being served with the summons for an initial pleading on file at the time of service; or

(C) 7 days after the notice of removal is filed.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(c)(2) (emphasis added).

Here, the motion to dismiss was timely filed in the federal court because it was filed within seven days of removal. Fed. R. Civ. P. 81(c)(2)(C). The only remaining issue is whether the Motion to Dismiss needed to be refiled in state court after the remand. Since there are no cases directly on point from the South Carolina appellate courts, we turn to other jurisdictions, where the overwhelming authority shows that the Motion to Dismiss did not need to be refiled.

“[T]he state court ordinarily receives the case in the posture it is in when remanded and, thus, a pleading filed in federal court need not be refiled in state court.” 77 C.J.S. Removal of Cases § 180. “[A] timely answer filed in district court following timely removal of the action is sufficient to prevent a default in a state court if the case is subsequently remanded from district court . . . .” *McKethan v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 334 Ga. App. 404, 408, 779 S.E.2d 671, 675 (2015) (citing *Teamsters Local 515 v. Roadbuilders, Inc. of Tennessee*, 249 Ga. 418, 421, 291 S.E.2d 698, 701 (1982) *overruled on other grounds by Shields v. Gish*, 280 Ga. 556, 629 S.E.2d 244 (2006)); accord

*Draper v. Reynolds*, 278 Ga. App. 401, 402, 629 S.E.2d 476, 478 (2006); *Falls v. Goldman Sachs Trust Co., N.A.*, No. 5:16-CV-740-FL, 2017 WL 1628885, at \*5 (E.D.N.C. May 1, 2017) (“[T]he cases cited reflect the *undisputed proposition* that documents timely filed in federal court prior to remand must be given effect in the same proceeding once remanded to state court.” (emphasis added) (citing *McKethan*, 779 S.E.2d at 674)).

The Court of Special Appeals of Maryland acknowledged that recognizing pleadings filed in federal court in a removed case after it is remanded back to state court has been the trend ever since the federal removal statutes were changed to remove a state court’s jurisdiction to proceed once a removal petition is filed. *Swarey v. Stephenson*, 222 Md. App. 65, 90, 112 A.3d 534, 549 (2015) (collecting cases from multiple jurisdictions). Additionally, the Supreme Court of New Hampshire aptly explained the policy consideration for giving effect to pleadings and motions filed in federal court before remand to state court:

Several policy considerations support giving effect to pleadings filed in federal court before remand to state court. The first is judicial efficiency and economy. *Laguna Vill., Inc. v. Laborers' Int'l Union of N. Am.*, 35 Cal. 3d 174, 181, 672 P.2d 882, 886 (1983). A state court's acceptance of federal pleadings in such circumstances “avoid[s] the needless waste of time, effort and expense which would result from requiring counsel to duplicate in [state] court their actions ... in the federal court.” *Edward Hansen, Inc. v. Kearny Post Office Assocs.*, 166 N.J. Super. 161, 169, 399 A.2d 319, 323 (Ch. Div. 1979). The second is fairness: giving effect to a federal court pleading is not unfair to an opposing party when that party has been fully apprised of the federal court proceedings and of the remand to state court. *See Laguna Vill.*, 197 Cal.Rptr. 99, 672 P.2d at 886. The third is the policy of avoiding forfeiture of claims and resolving them on the merits. *Id.*; *see Lewellyn v. Follansbee*, 94 N.H. 111, 114, 47 A.2d 572 (1946). The final policy is comity: “Most essentially, federal and state courts are complementary systems for administering justice in our Nation[;] [c]ooperation and comity, not competition and conflict are

essential in the federal design.” *Ruhrgas AG v. Marathon Oil Co.*, 526 U.S. 574, 586, 119 S.Ct. 1563, 143 L.Ed.2d 760 (1999).

*State v. Hess Corp.*, 159 N.H. 256, 262, 982 A.2d 388, 393 (2009) (alterations in original).

Some states have adopted a rule requiring a plaintiff to file a list of all the documents filed in federal court that are to be adopted in state court after remand and to provide a copy of those documents to the state court. *See Mosby v. W.-Anderson*, 363 S.W.3d 397, 400 (Mo. Ct. App. 2012) (citing Mo. Sup. Ct. R. 55.34(b)). However, South Carolina has no such rule.

Here, because the motion to dismiss was timely filed in the federal court, it was properly before the trial court as the trial court properly found. Toney was not prejudiced in any way by the fact that the trial court ruled on the motion to dismiss because she was clearly on notice of the motion, having been served with it before the remand to state court, and because the Federal Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation that was adopted by the District Judge stated that the motion to dismiss would be sent back to state court. (“If the district judge accepts this recommendation, all other motions pending in this action will be included in the remand for state court disposition.”). Based on this unanimous and uncontradicted rule, the trial court properly ruled on the motion to dismiss that was filed in the federal court. Furthermore, as stated above, Toney’s appellate argument fails because the LaSalle Defendants timely filed the motion to dismiss in the federal court, and therefore, there was no basis for holding LaSalle in default. Thus, this Court should reject Toney’s arguments, and affirm.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should reject Toney's arguments for reversal of the dismissal order because she was not denied due process. No *ex parte* hearing occurred because Toney failed to appear for the duly noticed March 2016 hearing after the court declined to reschedule the hearing upon her request. Additionally, she was given the further opportunity to submit written briefs after the hearing, which she did and which were considered, alleviating any potential prejudice. Finally, Toney failed to argue or show any prejudice regarding any alleged *ex parte* hearing. Toney's second argument that a default should have been entered against the LaSalle Defendants also fails because the LaSalle's Defendants' motion to dismiss was timely filed in the federal court before remand, and the trial court properly ruled upon it without the need for the motion to be re-filed in state court after remand. Thus, this Court should reject Toney's arguments, and affirm.